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James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn settled in Port Huron, MI from Ireland around 1865. At the time, the family consisted of one 
son, Patrick, and two daughters, Mary and Catherine. Their fourth and youngest child, a son named John, was born in Port Huron 
soon after their arrival. 

Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan was the daughter of John Gaharn and Bridget Munford. Her sister Mary Gaharn joined the Flanagan 
family in Port Huron, but it’s unclear who was first to establish residence in the city. 

The best estimate for the ages of James and Bridget is that James was a few years older and both were born in the 1820s or 1830s. 
Their son Patrick was the eldest, and was born in the late 1850s. Therefore, a good estimate for the marriage of James and Bridget 
is the mid-1850s.  

Genealogy is often limited to documents as written. The James and Bridget Flanagan family lived during a time in United States 
history when genealogical records were basic and did not require detailed information. As a result, documents have not been found 
to verify with 100% certainty where in Ireland the Flanagan and Gaharn families originated.  

The following information is verifiable and accurate: 

1. James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn were married in Ireland in the mid-1850s.  
2. James was a few years older than Bridget.  
3. They had three children (Patrick, Mary, and Catherine) in Ireland. There is consensus about their ages and order of birth. 
4. Mary was the informant for her sister Catherine’s death certificate and listed Dublin as Catherine’s place of birth.  
5. Bridget’s parents were John Gaharn and Bridget Munford. 
6. Bridget had a younger sister Mary Gaharn.  

Michael E. Byczek undertook the data analytical task to locate where the Flanagan and Gaharn families originated in Ireland given 
what was known from their life in Port Huron, MI. He concluded that the best candidate was Collinstown, County Westmeath. The 
Catholic parish records, while often illegible, are a near perfect match for every member of the Flanagan and Gaharn families. 
Collinstown is also near Dublin.  

A complete analysis of these documents is included at the end of this documentary, regarding the “Irish Origins of the Flanagan 
and Gaharn Families”.  

Michael E. Byczek has concluded, on balance of probabilities, that is more likely than not, and highly plausible for these records 
to accurately reflect his 3x-great-grandparents James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn prior to their arrival in Port Huron, MI. All 
references to Collinstown, Co. Westmeath in this documentary are based upon these conclusions and analysis.  

Therefore, on balance of probabilities, James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn were married at the Collinstown Catholic Parish 
church on December 1, 1855.  

Bridget Gaharn was baptized at the Collinstown church on March 2, 1835.  

Given that the identity of James Flanagan’s parents are not known from documents in Port Huron, there is only one good 
candidate for his baptism. The date was August 26, 1829 and his parents were Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey. 
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DNA genealogy has revealed that Michael E. Byczek is a genetic cousin to direct descendants of the very same Patrick Flanagan 
and Catherine Casey family from Collinstown, Co. Westmeath. 

James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn had a total of four known children: 

Child    Baptized  Location   Notes 

Patrick J. Flanagan  November 23, 1856 Collinstown, Co. Westmeath m. Anna Kane 
Mary Flanagan   May 8, 1858  Collinstown, Co. Westmeath m. Michael Hastings / Wm McCullouch 
Catherine Flanagan  August 25, 1861 Collinstown, Co. Westmeath m. William Hogwood 
John Flanagan   September 1, 1867 Port Huron, MI   m. Catherine Matthews 

Note: The Irish baptism records did not list date of birth, just the baptism. 

Their son Patrick Flanagan married Anna Kane in Chicago at Sacred Heart Catholic Church in 1886. They are Michael E. 
Byczek’s 2x-great-grandparents. 

James Flanagan is buried at Mt. Hope Cemetery in Port Huron, MI with a date of burial as April 15, 1882. Neither his death 
certificate nor obituary has been found. If the Collinstown baptism is correct, he was 52 years old. 

Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan passed away at the Flanagan family home located at 1113 Kearney St. in Port Huron on January 7, 
1914. If the Collinstown baptism is correct, she was 78 years old.  

James and Bridget are buried together with Bridget’s sister Mary Gaharn, who passed away on December 19, 1909 while living 
with Bridget Flanagan at 1113 Kearney. 

All four of James and Bridget Flanagan’s children relocated to Chicago, IL in the 1880s. Their son Patrick was the only child who 
remained in Chicago. John relocated to Los Angeles, CA while Mary and Catherine eventually returned to Port Huron, MI. 

The Flanagan family residence of 1113 Kearney in Port Huron, MI was demolished prior to online access to street views. Enough 
information about their home is available to reconstruct the visual aspects of the property, which is included in this documentary. 

The Flanagan surname was spelled with a variety of phonetic versions, such as Flannigan, Flanigan, and Flannagan. Bridget’s 
maiden name of Gaharn has also been spelled with variations that include Gahern and Gohorn. The first name James is also 
spelled as Jacob, which is a more religious variation. 

Page  of 2 86



 

1914 Death Certificate for Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan 
Port Huron, MI 
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Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan Obituary 
Port Huron, MI - Times Herald  

Top: 1/8/1914 
Bottom: 1/10/1914 

Obituaries 
 

(left) Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on 1/8/1914 (right) Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on 1/10/1914 
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1909 Death Certificate for Mary Gaharn 
Living with her sister Bridget Flanagan at 1113 Kearney 
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Mary Gaharn Obituary 
Port Huron, MI newspapers (12/20/1909) 

Top - Times Herald 
Bottom: The Daily Herald 
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Letter to Michael E. Byczek from Mt. Hope Cemetery in Port Huron, MI (2005) 
Inquiry as to the Flanagan/Gaharn dates of burial and grave locations 
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Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan’s Will 

In summary: (1) Catherine (Flanagan) Hogwood was the beneficiary and executor; (2) Her other two children and Patrick’s 
children each received $1; and (3) The Will was dated June 9, 1911. 

Michael E. Byczek has reviewed the probate documents. There are several provisions and procedures that require more 
information. Overall, the probate proceedings were straightforward 

 

Top: The Jackson Citizen Press (Jackson, MI) - 1/20/1914 
Bottom: Port Huron, MI - Times Herald - 1/26/1914 

 
Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on 1/26/1914 

Page  of 115 116

Page  of 8 86



 

One Page Will 
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List of disbursements that name her grandchildren in Chicago 
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Probate documents, Cont. 
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Probate documents, Cont. 
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Probate documents, Cont. 
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Probate documents, Cont. 
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It appears that Catherine Hogwood and her husband William continued living at 1113 Kearney through 1930 when they moved to 
Detroit. 

William McCollouch (Mary Flanagan’s husband) died at 1113 Kearney in 1917, which was referred to as “his sister-in-law’s 
house”. 

The directories show that other people also were living at the address, as if they were renting out rooms or possibly not living 
there full time. Three ads appeared in the newspaper between 1919-1921 that would have been placed by the Hogwood family and 
help describe the house. 

 

After Bridget’s Death 

It appears that Catherine Hogwood and her husband William continued living at 1113 Kearney through 1930 when they moved to Detroit. 

William McCollouch (Mary Flanagan’s husband) died at 1113 Kearney in 1917, which was referred to as “his sister-in-law’s house”. 

The directories show that other people also were living at the address, as if they were renting out rooms or possibly not living there full time. Three ads appeared in the newspaper between 
1919-1921 that would have been placed by Hogwood, and if nothing else, help describe the house. 

 

Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on May 26, 1919 

 

Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on October 29, 1920 

 

Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on September 29, 1921
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Flanagan Family Residence located at 1113 Kearney   

James Flanagan was the legal owner of the house located at 1113 Kearney in Port Huron, MI, which was allegedly purchased in 
1872.  

According to Bridget Flanagan, the real estate deed was supposed to have listed herself and her sister Mary Gaharn as the sole 
owners.  

It is highly unlikely that James Flanagan wrote the real estate deed himself. He and/or Bridget most likely hired an attorney or 
otherwise had the real estate documents prepared by a third-party who handled the transaction. 

The Flanagan and Gaharn family intentions were not honored by whoever completed the deed. It is unclear whether this mistake 
was the result of an attorney who wasn’t properly skilled in such matters, or misinterpretation of ownership. 

This mistake was not discovered until 1889, seven years after James Flanagan passed away. Since the real estate was in his name 
alone, a strict interpretation of the law suggested that Bridget, and certainly not her sister Mary Gaharn, did not own the house. As 
a result, the four Flanagan children all requested that the house be sold as their inheritance. Bridget Flanagan and her sister Mary 
Gaharn tried to correct the deed in court and also attempted to sell the house until the matter was resolved. 

Bridget Flanagan attempted to sell the property with advertisements in the newspaper from 7/20/1889 through 12/20/1889 (as 
found). The first newspaper article was published on 7/18/1889 indicating that Bridget immediately attempted to sell the house. 

Bridget and her sister Mary did not sell the house and remained there for the rest of their lives.  

 

Port Huron Times Herald (7/18/1889) 
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Weekly Expositor (Yale, MI) - 9/5/1889 
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Court Order that corrected the deed in favor of Bridget Flanagan and her sister Mary Gaharn (1891) 
Obtained by Michael E. Byczek from the St. Clair County court archives (along with Bridget’s Will) 

Top portion of the first page 
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Bottom portion of the first page 

Page  of 19 86



 

Second page 
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Bridget Flanagan attempted to sell the property with advertisements in the newspaper from 7/20/1889 through 12/20/1889 (as found). The original newspaper article was published on 
7/18/1889 indicating that Bridget immediately attempted to sell the house.  

This version of the advertisement ran until 8/22/1889 in Times-Herald 
Note: This particular image is from 8/19/1889 (selected for clarity) 

This version of the advertisement ran until the end in Times-Herald 
Note: This particular image is from 12/20/1889 (selected for clarity) 
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1880 deed that is the subject of the litigation listing James Flanagan as the owner 
However, the newspaper stated that the transaction took place in 1872.  

It is unclear whether the dates are simply a mistake. 

1880 Deed that is the focus of the court case (Full Perspective)   
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Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan - Crime Victim 

Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan was the victim of a violent attack outside her home at 1113 Kearny in 1884.  

Her sister Mary Gaharn was home at the time and came to Bridget’s defense. Bridget credited her sister with saving her life that 
day. 

A brothel opened in the residential house immediately next door to the Flanagan home. It appears that Bridget Flanagan had 
regular issues with the brothel’s owner, which eventually escalated to violence against Bridget. Both the brothel owner and several 
women who worked inside inflicted physical injury upon Bridget including threatening Bridget with a gun. The Times Herald 
newspaper covered the court case on 8/27/1884.  

The newspaper article about the trial is shown on the next page. 

 

Port Huron - Times Herald (8/21/1884) 
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The Flanagan family and United States Citizenship 

A strict interpretation of the law would conclude that James Flanagan, his wife Bridget, and their Irish born children (Patrick, 
Mary, and Catherine) were not citizens of the United States.  

Michael E. Byczek, 3x-great-grandson of James Flanagan, is an Illinois attorney and has reviewed family documents from 
Chicago and Port Huron regarding their citizenship status. He has concluded that it is proper to pay tribute to the Flanagan family 
as if they were American citizens as of 1866 while residents of Port Huron, MI.  

The misinterpretation originates in 1865 when James Flanagan filed his first papers followed by a duplicate one year later instead 
of the final papers required to become a citizen. Michael E. Byczek has concluded this was not the fault of his 3x-great-
grandfather. 

Documents show that James Flanagan may not have been able to read or write. Court records suggest that he did not understand 
the intricacy of legal documents, the complexity of law, or government-imposed procedures. 

A fictional, but plausible, chronology of events are described as follows:  

1865: James Flanagan walked into a government office and announced his intentions to become an American citizen. The 
government official instructed James to fill out a form and return in one year to complete another document. 

1866: After waiting one year, James Flanagan returned to the government office and again announced that he wanted to become a 
citizen. The government official told him to fill out a document and go home. James Flanagan did so, and told his entire family 
that they had become American citizens. 

In such a scenario, James Flanagan had the sincere intention of becoming an American citizen, followed the procedures to the best 
of his ability, and lived the rest of his life proud to be a citizen of the United States, despite the lack of a final review of his 
paperwork or administration of an oath. James Flanagan would not have understood these requirements or procedure. 

Both James and Bridget Flanagan passed away in Port Huron believing they were American citizens. Patrick Flanagan told Anna 
Kane that when they were married, she would become a citizen through marriage. He spent the rest of his life believing that he 
was an American citizen. 

Anna (Kane) Flanagan spent her entire widowhood proud to be an American citizen until her sister-in-law discovered that her 
father did not file final papers. Anna Flanagan immediately proceeded to become a citizen in her own right in 1938. She passed 
away just three years later. 

In her naturalization documents, Anna (Kane) Flanagan stated: 

Given the question “I was informed by the following-named person or persons that I was a citizen of the United States”, Anna 
answered:  

 About Sept. 1886, from about the time we were married, my husband told me he was a citizen of the U.S. by naturalization 
 of his father James Flanagan in Pt. Huron, Mich. In about March 1919 when women were starting to vote I registered to   
 vote being as I thought my husband had been a citizen. 

With regard to the question of “I continued as above indicated until the date shown below when I became apprised under the 
following circumstances that my impression was erroneous”, Anna replied: 

 About Sept. 1937 my sister-in-law Cather Hogwood, sent me her father’s papers and I found that they were only 1st   
 papers and that he had never taken final papers.  

Anna further explained, given the question “I have exercised the following rights and duties of a citizen of the United States”, that: 

 I have voted since March 1919. I had one son, Martin Flanagan, in the World War. 

For these reasons, Michael E. Byczek pays tribute to his 2x-great-grandparents Patrick Flanagan and Anna Kane along with his 
3x-great-grandparents James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn as if they were American citizens. 
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Declaration of Intention (1st Papers) 
Dated 9/28/1865 

Declaration of Intention for James Flanagan filed 9/28/1865 
Note: The possible immigration had an arrival date in the US has 6/27/1865. 
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Another Declaration of Intention 
Dated 9/29/1866 

This second declaration was dated exactly one year and one day after the first. While neither document provides any meaningful 
information about the James Flanagan who is named, it is highly unlikely that two different individuals with the same name would 
both file first papers exactly one year and one day apart. Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude that whoever this particular James 
Flanagan was, it was the same person who filed both documents. 

The fact that the same person filed two duplicate documents one year apart matches Anna (Kane) Flanagan’s narrative that her 
father-in-law did not file his final papers and why the Flanagan family thought they were naturalized citizens. 

 

Declaration of Intention for James Flannigan dated 9/29/1866, exactly one year and one day from the earlier document. 
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Federal and State Census 
All Port Huron, MI 

1870 Federal: James and Bridget listed as illiterate. James is a laborer. 
  James (48), Bridget (32), Patrick (12), Mary (11), Catherine (6), John (3) 

1880 Federal:  Living at 466 Seventh Street (East Side) 
  James and Patrick both listed as laborers. Catherine and Mary as dressmakers. 
  The census was taken on 6/1/1880 and James is listed as being unemployed for five months of 1880. 
  James (57), Bridget (42), Patrick (23), Mary (19), Catherine (17), John (12) 
  James and Bridget again listed as illiterate. 
  Note: Catherine gets married in Chicago on 10/5/1880, just four months later. 

1884 MI: Only lists Kearney Street - Only Bridget, her son John, and sister Mary Gaharn 
  Note: James died two years ago, Patrick is gone from the directory about this time. 
  Catherine is married, and Mary got married in Chicago two months after the census 
  Bridget (49), John (15), Mary Gaharn (40) 
  Bridget is referred to as housewife and Mary a servant. John doesn’t have a job (none). 
  All three able to read and write. 
  Bridget listed as 20 years within Michigan. Looks like Mary is the same. 

1894 MI: Address illegible - Just Bridget and her sister 
  Looks like Bridget (56) and Mary (50) - Bridget has four total children (all alive) 
  Bridget listed as housewife and Mary as a washwoman 
  Bridget listed as illiterate while Mary can read and write (there is an x over Bridget’s answers) 
  Both list 33 years within Michigan. However, hard to tell whether time in the US is 32 or 33. 

1900 Federal: Bridget and her sister Mary at 1113 Kearney (Bridget owns the house) 
  Bridget (January 1835) and Mary (August 1837) 
  Bridget has four total children 
  Both listed as arrival in US as 1865 
  Both listed as able to read and write 

1910 Federal:  1113 Kearney - Just Bridget (sister died in 1909) 
  Listed as 78 years old with four total children and one dead (Patrick) 
  Arrived in US in 1864. Lists employment as “own income” 
  Able to read and write. 

Page  of 28 86



 

1870 Federal Census 
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1880 Federal Census 
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1884 Michigan State Census 
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1894 Michigan State Census 
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1900 Federal Census 
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1910 Federal Census 
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Port Huron, MI City Directories 

 

 

Port Huron Directories 
Summary  

(actual images listed below) 

1871-72  James Flanagan  res. Fort, near Suffern 
  Miss Mary Gaharn wks. J. F. Batchelor ** [appears to be a sawmill]  

1873  James Flanigan  lab, res s e cor Fort and Stanton; v 1 w ** [abbreviation for registered voter in 1st Ward] 

1877-78  James Flanagan  laborer, res n s Kearney bet Stone and Elk 

1881  James Flanagan  lab, n s Kearney, bet Stone and Elk 

1883  Bridget Flanagan   wid James res n s Kearney 2 e of Elk 
  Patrick Flanagan  helper G T Ry, bds Bridget Flanagan ** [appears to be Grand Trunk Railway] 
  Mary Gehern   bds n s Kearney 2 e of Elk 

1885  Bridget Flanaghan wid James, res n s Kearney 1 w of Stone 
  John Flanaghan  car checker P H & N W Ry, bds ns Kearney 1 w of Stone 
  Miss Mary Gahern bds n s Kearney 1 w of Stone 

1887-1888 Bridget Flanaggan wid James res n s Kearney 2 w of Stone 
  John Flanaghan  carchecker, bds n s Kearney 2 of Stone 
  Mary Gahern  bds n s Kearney 2 w of Stone 

1888  Mrs Bridget Flannagan washerwoman (widow James) res 1113 Kearny 
  John Flannagan  machinist P H & N W Ry, bds 1113 Kearny 
  Mary Flannagan  domestic 1113 Kearny **[Either Patrick’s sister using maiden name or Bridget’s sister with wrong name] 

1890  Mrs Mary Flanagan widow James washerwoman res 1113 Kearny ** [Bridget with the wrong first name] 
  Mary Flanagan  housekeeper bds 1113 Kearny ** [Patrick’s sister (not remarried yet) or Bridget’s sister with wrong name] 

1891-1892 Mrs Bridget Flanagan wid James res 1113 Kearney 
  Miss Mary Gaharn bds 1113 Kearney 

1893-1894 Bridget Flanagan  widow James res 1113 Kearney 
  William McCullough vessel captain res 623 Water 

1899-1900 Mrs B Flannagan  wid of James res 1113 Kearney 
  Mary Flannagan  res 1113 Kearney ** [Should be Bridget’s sister with wrong name, Patrick’s sister is already remarried] 

1901  Mrs Bridget Flannagan wid of James res 1113 Kearney 
  Mary Flannagan  res 1113 Kearney ** [assume Bridget’s sister] 

1902  Mrs Bridget Flanagan wid of James res 1113 Kearney 
  Mary Flanagan  res 1113 Kearney ** [assume Bridget’s sister] 

1904  Mrs Bridget Flanagan wid of James res 1113 Kearney 
  Mary Flanagan  res 1113 Kearney ** [assume Bridget’s sister] 

Page  of 58 1161907  Mrs Bridget Flannagan  wid James res 1113 Kearney 
  Mary Flannagan   res 1113 Kearney ** [assume Bridget’s sister] 
  Wm (Minnie) McCullouch  marine diver res in a boat at Wolverine Dry Dock, winters 

1924-25  Wm (Catherine) Hogwood  wks Mueller’s, h 1113 Kearney ** [also listed under house directory with phone; Mueller unclear] 

1926  None    ** [Carl Duerr listed under address directory for 1113 Kearney] 

1928  Wm (Catherine) Hogwood  wks Mueller’s, h 1113 Kearney ** [also listed under address directory] 

1930  Wm Hogwood   janitor Pt Huron Hosp h 1113 Kearney ** [address directory: Michl Fisher and Louis Howard] 
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1871-72 

1871-72 
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1873 

1873 
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1877-78 

1877-78 
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1881 

1881 
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1883 
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1885 
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1887-88 

1887-1888 
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1888 

1888 
 

Page  of 67 116

Page  of 43 86



 

1890 

1890 
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1891-92 

1891-1892 
 

 

Page  of 69 116

Page  of 45 86



 

1893-94 

1893-1894 
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1899-1900 

1899-1900 
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1901 

1901 
 

Page  of 72 116

Page  of 48 86



 

1902 

1902 
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1904 

1904 
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1907 

1907 
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1924-25 

 

1928 

 

1930 

1924-25 
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1928 
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1930 
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Address Chronology 

 

Addresses and Maps 

1871-72 Directory Fort near Suffern 

1872 Newspaper  Purchased 1113 Kearney 

   Note: It’s unknown what year is correct. The newspaper stated that Bridget bought the house in 1872, but the deed was filed in 1880. They were living on   
   Kearney between Stone and Elk, which corresponds to 1113 Kearney, but since they were not living there in the 1880 census, it’s possible that the Flanagan   
   family formerly lived in that house (rent) or next door, which is why they purchased the house in 1880. 

1873 Directory  s e cor Fort and Stanton 

1877-78 Directory Kearney bet Stone and Elk 

6/1/1880 (Census) 466 Seventh (East Side) 
    
   Note: This doesn’t appear to be a valid address. The Black River divides north and south of Seventh Street (south) and Erie Street (north). The number 466   
   corresponds to Erie. Seventh doesn’t have a 466. The numbers increase according with two different street names. Old maps don’t show a 466. The blocks only   
   have a handful of houses that don’t go much higher than the 20s. The census may have gotten the street wrong (meant Erie, not Seventh) and perhaps the   
   addresses changed over time (like Chicago). The 400 block of Erie (east side of street) was the same block as the Flanagan Church (St. Stephen’s) which was the   
   west side of the street. Therefore, if there was a 466 and Erie was Seventh, this property would be right across the street from the church. 

10/1/1880 Deed  Warranty Deed filed for 1113 Kearney 

   Note: Unclear when the transaction took place compared to date it was filed. It appears that the deed was notarized on 9/1/1880. 

1881 Directory  n s Kearney, bet Stone and Elk 

1883 Directory  n s Kearney 2 e of Elk 
   
1885 Directory  n s Kearney 1 w of Stone 
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Sanborn Map from 1911 

Property was described in newspaper as 50 foot by 167 foot. Bridget Flanagan owned the entire lot with the house. 
Listed in the 1883 directory as 1 east of Elk, which would correspond to 1 east compared to the corner. The corner is the location of the brothel. 

Listed in the 1885 directory as 1 west of Stone. That would imply that one of the houses east of the Flanagan house was built after 1885. 
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1894 “Bird’s Eye” Map of Port Huron 

These are the four houses on Kearney between Elk (top) and Stone (bottom) 
1113 Kearney is the second from the left. The corner is where the brothel was located. 
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Flanagan House is in the center of the image 
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St. Stephen Church is on the corner of Erie and Broad 
If 466 Seventh Street (1880 census) is a valid address, it would be right across the street from the church (one of the five houses) 

1894 “Bird’s Eye” Map of Port Huron 
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Another view of St Stephen Church (and potentially 466 Seventh Street) 
1867 “Birds Eye” Map of Port Huron 
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Flanagan’s lived at “Fort near Suffern” in 1871 and the “Southeast corner of Fort and Stanton” in 1873 
Fort Street is second from the bottom. Sufferen is where Pine Grove intersects (angle). Stanton is one above (to the right) 

This map is from 1894. The SE corner of Fort and Stanton is the isolated house immediately on the River. Fort near Suffern could be anywhere on the street either side. 
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1867 “Birds Eye” Map 
The isolated house (middle of shoreline) along the lake appears to be the Southeast corner of Fort and Stanton (see below) 
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The leftmost line is Stanton, rightmost is Suffern. The intersecting line is Fort 
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Possible Newspaper References to the Flanagan Family 

The following newspaper articles could refer to Patrick and his father James.  

However, without more information, these references could be a coincidence. 

 

Possible Newspaper Articles 
 

This is probably James, but unconfirmed.  
While there is another James Flanagan in St. Clair County at the same time, and another in Port Huron after James died, 1113 Kearney was located in the Fifth Ward. 

James died in April 1882 and was the only known James Flanagan in Port Huron during his lifetime. 

Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on 7/5/1881 

 

There is at least one other Patrick Flanagan in St. Clair County. This article is unclear whether this particular Patrick was from Port Huron.  
There is only one known Patrick in Port Huron during his era. He did live with his mother and sister. This is basically the same time Patrick left for Chicago. 

Published in Port Huron Times-Herald on 7/13/1883 
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Possible Immigration Analysis 

There is a very near match for the Flanagan family’s immigration in 1865. However, there are several conflicts that render these 
documents uncertain.  

These documents are included as representative of the difficulties to verify information when the requirements did not involve 
detailed family information. 

Documents provide a range of 1861-1867 with 1865 as the best candidate for their arrival in Port Huron, MI from Ireland: 

1861:   1894 census (Bridget lists 33 years in Michigan, but possibly 32 years in US) 
1862:   1900 census (Mary) 
1863:   1920 census (Catherine) 
1864:   1884 census (Bridget lists 20 years in Michigan), 1910 census (Bridget), 1920 census (Mary) 
1865:   1900 census (Bridget) 
1867:   1900 census (Patrick), 1930 census (Catherine) 

There is an immigration document for a Flanagan family in 1865 that is an almost perfect match. There are three children (Patrick, 
Mary, and Catherine) who are basically the correct ages. The father is James and the mother is Mary, with basically the right ages. 
Not only are the ages a near match, but the age ranges are also accurate. For example, James is five years older than his wife.  

The family is traveling to Canada, which is interesting because Port Huron, MI is literally on the Canadian border.  

The difficulty with this particular document is that the wife/mother’s name is Mary Flanagan, not Bridget. However, this could 
have been a mistake. 

Regardless of whether this is the correct document, the information is reflective of how little family details were required to ever 
determine if any particular passenger list is accurate. 

 

Passenger List - Hibernian 
Port of Portland and Falmouth (State of Maine) 

Arrival: 6/27/1865 

Analysis: (1)  What is the probability of a Flanagan family arriving in the US around 1865 who have three children named Patrick, Mary, and Kate in that order with    
   approximately the right ages and age difference? 

  (2) It’s suspicious that they are headed for Canada, since Port Huron is on the border with Canada 

  (3)  James is five years older than his wife, which is generally about the right age difference. 
   
  (4) Jame’s wife is named Mary, but that name is not random. Their daughter is Mary and the person writing the names down could have written the same name twice 
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Index card for Patrick Flanagan 
Notation of “ J M M K” refers to the initials of who he traveled with as a family 

Index card for Patrick Flannigan 
(from the above passenger list) 

Page  of 55 116

Page  of 64 86



Children of James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn 
As it relates to the Flanagan family origins in Ireland 

There is only one known document that provides any insight into where the Flanagan and Gaharn families originated in Ireland.  

When Catherine (Flanagan) Hogwood passed away in 1938 (Detroit, MI), her sister Minnie (Flanagan) McCullouch was the 
informant and provided Dublin as the birth place for Catherine and both of their parents. 

It is possible that the government or medical official who actually filled out the form added Dublin without Minnie’s knowledge. 
Another possibility is that the official asked for the nearest large city in Ireland closest to where Catherine and her parents were 
born. In this scenario, Dublin is simply near their place of birth versus the actual geographic location. 

From a genealogical research perspective, the following observations are crucial when analyzing all known documents for the 
Flanagan family: 

1. Death records for James Flanagan have not been found. It is possible that his death certificate and obituary may provide 
information about his place of birth. 

2. The death records for both Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan and Mary Gaharn only list Ireland. It is important to note that Bridget 
was the informant for Mary’s death certificate and did not list their place of birth. 

3. All known records for their son Patrick Flanagan, including documents for his children that refer to their father, only list 
Ireland. It is important to note that Patrick’s wife Anna (Kane) Flanagan provided details about her birth in Claremorris 
(County Mayo), but did not list anything other than Ireland for her husband on the same documents. Therefore, it is reasonable 
to conclude that Anna did not know where Patrick was born, or did not remember. 

4. All known records for Mary (“Minnie”) Flanagan through both of her marriages, and those of her son, only list Ireland.  
5. It is not known whether Mary or Catherine filed naturalization papers in their own name, as their sister-in-law Anna (Kane) 

Flanagan had done in Chicago. If so, these papers most likely were filed in Michigan, perhaps Detroit. These documents 
would probably provide information about their place of birth, if such filings exist.  

As for why James Flanagan’s death certificate and obituary have not been found, the following scenarios are possible: 

1. James Flanagan passed away in Port Huron and his name was written wrong, perhaps with the wrong first and last name in the 
records. 

2. Port Huron, MI is located along the Canadian border. The Flanagan family residence was located a short walk from Canada. It 
is possible that James Flanagan passed away in Canada, perhaps on a job site or in a hospital. 

3. All four Flanagan children eventually relocated to Chicago, IL and had already began the transition prior to their father’s 
death. It is possible that James and Bridget Flanagan were traveling between Port Huron, Chicago, and other unknown 
locations to visit their children when the death occurred.  
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1908 Death Certificate for Patrick Flanagan 
Chicago, IL 
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1945 Death Certificate for Minnie (Flanagan) McCullouch 
Detroit, MI 
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1938 Death Certificate for Catherine (Flanagan) Hogwood 
Detroit, MI 

Minnie (Flanagan) McCullouch was the informant 

Catherine, and her parents, were listed as born in Dublin 

1938 Death Certificate for Catherine Hogwood 
Her sister Minnie McCullouch filled out the information and listed Dublin as place of birth 
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Communication between Michael E. Byczek and St. Stephen’s Church in Port Huron, MI (2006) 

The church could only locate John Flanagan’s baptism in 1867. 
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1927 Death Certificate for John Flanagan 
Los Angeles, CA 

Sister Minnie (Flanagan) McCullouch was the informant 
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Irish Origins of the Flanagan and Gaharn Families 

The most accurate chronology of the ages for each child is based on the 1870 census from Port Huron, MI: 

  Age in 1870 Census Estimated Year of Birth based on Census 

Patrick  12   1858 
Mary  11   1859 
Catherine 6   1864 
John  3   1867 [Note: 1867 is correct because his baptism record in Port Huron was found] 

James Flanagan and the Gaharn sisters Bridget and Mary used a range of ages throughout their lifetime in Port Huron: 

James Flanagan:   1822-1823 very few documents exist where the age of James was listed 
Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan:  1828-1838 the only document during Bridget’s life that asked for a date was the 1900   
      census, which showed January 1835 
Mary Gaharn:    1836-1844 the 1900 census, as above, listed August 1837 

Flanagan, and common variations (i.e. Flannigan), is a very common surname throughout Ireland. However, the surnames Gaharn 
and Munford are rather uncommon. In fact, the surname Munford is so rare that very few families with that spelling existed in the 
entire country around the time that James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn were married in the mid to late 1850s. 

This rarity should narrow down a common link between the three surnames of Flanagan, Gaharn, and Munford. All initial results 
pointed to the area of County Meath, which is adjacent to County Dublin. County Meath is the best candidate for a common origin 
of Gaharn and Munford.  

As of December 31, 2024, Michael E. Byczek has identified only one match for all three surnames in the Collinstown Catholic 
Parish of County Westmeath. The records from Collinstown are a near perfect match to the James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn 
family.  

The Collinstown Catholic Parish is adjacent to the border of County Meath, which is adjacent to County Dublin.  

All reference to Collinstown in the following pages refers to the Catholic Parish that included more than one village within its 
boundaries. 
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The James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn Family from Collinstown Parish (County Westmeath) 

Patrick Flanagan used a range of dates for his birth, but the most accurate would be the 1870 census (1858). Therefore, the best 
guess for when his parents were married was 1857 or earlier.  

A marriage took place in Collinstown on December 1, 1855 that is a near perfect match. 

 

This marriage record is somewhat illegible.  

The groom is, without a question, James Flanagan.  

The bride’s first name is Bridget. The first four letters of her surname is “Gaha” followed by what appears to be two letters.  

The next step is to evaluate all baptism records for that church. The three children born in Ireland were Patrick, Mary, and 
Catherine in that order. The best guess is that Mary was born about the year following Patrick with a few year gap between Mary 
and Catherine. 

 
1855 Marriage for James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharan 
Name is difficult to read past the beginning of “Gaha” 
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The most accurate date of birth for Patrick Flanagan is 1858. If the marriage record above is correct (1855), he should have been 
born the following year (1856). 

A baptism took place in Collinstown on November 23, 1856 that is a near perfect match for Patrick: 

 

The record is somewhat illegible. 
  
The baby’s name is Patrick. 

The father’s name is Jacob Flanagan. Jacob is a formal variation of James used for Catholic records. In fact, James was called 
Jacob in Port Huron for his son John’s baptism in 1867. 

The mother’s first name is Bridget. Her maiden name appears to start the with the letters “Gagh” followed by two or three letters. 

 
1856 Baptism for Patrick Flanagan.  

James is written as Jacob. Bridget’s maiden name is hard to read. 
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The most accurate date of birth for Mary Flanagan is one year after Patrick, about 1859. If the baptism record for Patrick above is 
correct (November 1856), his sister Mary should have been born in late 1857 or early 1858. 

A baptism took place in Collinstown on May 8, 1858 that is near perfect match. 

 

The record is somewhat illegible. 

The baby’s name is Maria.  

The father appears to be James Flanagan.  

The mother’s first name is Bridget. Her maiden name starts with a ‘G’ and would appear to at least be a phonetic version of 
Gaharn, such as “Geogaran”..  

 
1858 Baptism for Mary Flanagan 

Note: This record is not indexed online 
It appears that the baby is named Maria. Father looks like James Flanagan and mother looks like Bridget Gaughan 

It is one of a few entries with an X indicating it’s the correct record 

Page  of 11 21

Page  of 74 86



The most accurate date of birth for Catherine Flanagan is about 1864 or otherwise about five years after her sister Mary. If the 
above record is correct for Mary (1858), that would suggest Catherine was born about 1863.  

A baptism took place in Collinstown August 25, 1861 that is a near perfect match. 

 

The record is somewhat illegible.  

The baby’s name was Catherine. 

The father was James Flanagan. 

The mother’s first name was Bridget. Her maiden name looks like Gaharan.  

 
1861 Baptism for Catherine Flanagan 

Note: This is the only document that lists a village name: Drumcree 
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Conclusion 

These are the only baptisms for the James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn family in Collinstown. 

An observation is required that the marriage and all three baptisms have an X mark. These are amongst the only records for these 
years that have such a mark. This indicates that the church singled out the entire family. One explanation is that the family 
departed the Parish after Catherine’s birth, which coincides with their relocation to the United States.  

This marriage record and three baptisms taken as a collection represents an extremely high degree of likelihood to be the James 
Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn family that settled in Port Huron, MI. 
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The Gaharn Family of the Collinstown Catholic Parish (County Westmeath) 

Analysis requires a direct connection not only between Flanagan and Gaharn, but also Munford. 

The only known information is that Bridget was born about January 1835 and her sister Mary about August 1837. Their parents 
were John Gaharn and Bridget Munford. 

A baptism took place in Collinstown on March 2, 1835 that is near perfect match for Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan. 

 

The record is somewhat illegible.  

The baby’s name was Bridget.  

The father was John. His surname is similar to “Gaghan”. 

The mother’s first name was Biddy (otherwise Bridget). Her maiden name was similar to “Bumfort”.  

Bridget Gaharn II 
 

Baptism for Bridget Gaharn II 
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All records suggest that Mary Gaharn was about two years younger than her sister Bridget. If the baptism above is correct, that 
would suggest that Mary was born about 1837.  

A baptism took place in Collinstown on July 22, 1838 that is near perfect match. 

 

The record is somewhat illegible.  

The baby’s name is Mary. The father appears to be listed as “J” with the last name similar to “Gaghram”. 

The mother’s first name is “Brid”. Her maiden name is similar to “Bomfort”. 

Mary Gaharn 
 

Baptism for Mary Gaharn 
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There are three other baptisms from Collinstown that suggest there were at least three other children. 

The earliest took place on August 27, 1826. 

 

The baby was Nicholas.  

The father was Jno with a surname similar to Gaughran.  

The mother was Bridget Bumfort. 

Nicholas Gaharn 
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The second baptism took place on May 11, 1829.  

 

The record is somewhat illegible.  

The baby’s name was John. 

The father was Jno with a last name that was similar to Gaharan. 

The mother’s name was Bridget with a maiden name similar to Bumfort. 

John Gaharn 
 

1829 John Gaharn Baptism 
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The third baptism took place on March 19, 1831. 

 

The record is somewhat illegible. 

The baby was Bridget. It was common for parents to use the same name for a baby who was deceased. This baptism took place 
prior to the other Bridget, who is presumed to the Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan. 

The father’s first name is not listed. His surname is similar to Gaharan.  

The mother’s name is Bridget with a maiden name similar to Bumfort. 

Bridget Gaharn I 
 

Baptism for Bridget Gaharn I 
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Conclusion 

These five baptisms suggest that a family resided in the Collinstown Catholic Parish with names very similar to John Gaharn and 
Bridget Munford.  

Both surnames are rare in Ireland.  

It is very possible that Gaharn and Munford were the Americanized versions used by Bridget Flanagan and her sister Mary Gaharn 
after they settled in Port Huron, MI. Since the surnames are rare, those exact spellings should not be taken literally. The two sisters 
may have changed the spelling of their mother and father’s names to fit the United States, especially if they spoke with heavy Irish 
accents.  

It is also possible that the priest in Collinstown did not know how to spell either surname was wrote the names phonetically.  

There is a very high likelihood that the above baptism records for Bridget and Mary are the two sisters from Port Huron, MI. 

Therefore, there is a collection of marriage and baptism records from a single Catholic Parish that is a direct link between John 
Gaharn and Bridget Munford along with their daughter Bridget who married James Flanagan. 
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The Flanagan family from the Collinstown Catholic Parish (County Westmeath) 

If the marriage record for James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn is correct, then James most likely was born nearby. 

As of December 31, 2024 there is only one good candidate. 

That baptism took place in Collinstown on August 26, 1829.  

 

The record clearly shows the baby was James with parents Pat Flanagan and Cath Casey.  

While 1822-23 is the only range of years for when James Flanagan from Port Huron was born, that is not conclusive proof. 

Since it is presumed that Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan was born in 1835, it is more likely that her husband is closer to her own age 
than her father. If 1822 is correct, that would represent an age difference of thirteen years. If the year 1829 is correct, that would 
only be six years. Therefore, the best guess is that the husband was only slightly older than his wife.  

1829 Baptism of James Flanagan 
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A marriage took place in the Coole Catholic Parish of Co. Westmeath on August 17, 1828 between Patrick Flanagan and Catherine 
Casey. 

 

It appears that the Coole Parish is also known as Mayne, which is immediately adjacent to the Collinstown Parish.  

Based on the year and location, it is presumed to be the correct marriage.  

At least two other baptisms with parents Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey have been found in and near Collinstown. This 
includes the Taghmon Catholic Parish, which is also adjacent to the Collinstown Parish. 

1828 Marriage for Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey 
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Conclusion of the Collinstown Catholic Parish in County Westmeath as the origins of the Flanagan and Gaharn Families 

The best candidate for James Flanagan from Port Huron, MI based on an evaluation of records from the Collinstown Parish is that 
he was the son of Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey. 

The only known actual reference to the origins of the Flanagan-Gaharn family is Dublin from Catherine (Flanagan) Hogwood’s 
death certificate filled out by her sister Minnie (Flanagan) McCullouch. Catherine Hogwood passed away in 1938 while living in 
Detroit, MI. The two sisters were living together at the time. Dublin should not be taken literally, as it could simply refer to the 
largest nearby city or a generalized area. It is also possible that the Flanagan family sought opportunities in Dublin prior to 
traveling to the United States. 

Michael E. Byczek took a DNA test through ancestry.com in 2024 and focused search functionality on possible DNA matches for 
Flanagan genetic cousins. He was a DNA match for the descendants of the same Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey from 
Collinstown, Co. Westmeath through their other children.  

Based upon Michael E. Byczek’s research, a collection of Flanagan, Gaharn, and Munford records have been located in a single 
Catholic Parish along with a presumptive DNA match for the same family. 

Based on balance of probabilities, it is more likely than not, and highly plausible that Michael E. Byczek’s 2x-great-grandfather 
Patrick Flanagan was born in the Collinstown Catholic Parish in 1856. He was the son of James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn. His 
paternal grandparents were Patrick Flanagan and Catherine Casey. His maternal grandparents were John Gaharn and Bridget 
Munford. His maternal aunt Mary Gaharn remained very close with her sister Bridget Flanagan through their life in the United 
States. The collection of records, with a DNA match, suggests more than a mere coincidence. 

It should be emphasized that James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn had only four known children with the names Patrick, Mary, 
Catherine, and John. All four names reflect the Flanagan and Gaharn families of Collinstown, Co. Westmeath. 

James Flanagan, Bridget (Gaharn) Flanagan, and Mary Gaharn are buried together at Mount Hope Cemetery in Port Huron, MI. 
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Additional Information 

James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn are Michael E. Byczek’s 3x-great-grandparents. Their son Patrick J. Flanagan (2x-great-
grandfather) married Anna Kane at Sacred Heart Church in Chicago in 1886. Their son Martin J. Flanagan (great-grandfather) 
married Marie T. Talbot at Holy Name Cathedral in Chicago in 1922. Their daughter Marie C. Flanagan (grandmother) married 
Michael S. Byczek at St. Bridget’s in the Bridgeport neighborhood in 1950. Their son Michael M. Byczek (father) married  
Betty A. Bykowski in 1974 at St. Helen’s on Augusta and Oakley in Chicago. They have two children, Michael E. Byczek (the 
eldest) and Katherine S. Byczek, both born in the Bridgeport neighborhood. 

Michael E. Byczek has been compiling actual records for the Flanagan family from Chicago, Port Huron, and Ireland for over  
30 years. He has gathered an extensive collection of documents. This compiled documentary is an accurate source of genealogy 
for James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn. 

Feel free to send a message for more information or genealogy collaboration. 

Michael E. Byczek 
Illinois Attorney and Real Estate Broker 
Chicago, IL (United States) 

6/14/2025 

Expanded upon and revision of an earlier documentary about James Flanagan and Bridget Gaharn dated 12/31/2024. 

michael@byczek.pro 
https://michaelbyczek.pro 
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